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	Question 8
	
	

	The death of Signalman Geoffrey Gregg
	

	Senator Evans
Hansard, 31 May 2007, pp. 3-8, p. 10, p. 11, p. 47, p. 50, p. 53
	


a)
Was any psychological testing included as part of Signalman Gregg’s pre-deployment medical checklist on 21 March 2002, post-deployment medical review on 21 August 2002 or the return‑to‑Australia psychological screen on 25 August 2002?

b)
What was the ADF’s engagement with Signalman Gregg and his medical condition after the specialist report on 30 April 2003?

c)
During his 30 April 2003 specialist appointment, did Signalman Gregg make any comments on suicidal tendencies?

d)
As a result of Signalman Gregg’s 30 April 2003 assessment of post-traumatic stress disorder, was he then transferred out and put on light duties?  What occurred in terms of his military career?

e)
Has Defence been asked by the Minister for Defence’s office to provide information on Signalman Gregg’s psychiatric assessments?

f)
From when Signalman Gregg enlisted and until his discharge, what was the totality of his psychological testing?

g)
In reference to the assessment conducted on Signalman Gregg on 6 December 2000, the paperwork is headed ‘Psychological Assessment Record-Trailer’.  What does this mean?

h)
If the psychological assessment on 6 December 2000 found Signalman Gregg unsuitable for posting to 152 SIG SQN, why was he posted on 22 December 2000?

i)
Who requested the 23 April 2001 interview between Signalman Gregg and the Royal Australian Signals Corp Career Manager and what were the circumstances that generated the request?

j)
When in March 2000 was Signalman Gregg’s enlistment medical assessment conducted?

k)
Was any counseling provided to Signalman Gregg following the Redback Kilo Three patrol incident in Afghanistan?

l)
What level of officer saw Signalman Gregg on 25 November 2002 when he had his post-deployment medical check?

m)
In relation to the Member for Ballarat’s recent inquiry into the medical management of Signalman Gregg, what is the date of the correspondence and which Minister referred it to Defence?

RESPONSE

a)
In completing the Return to Australia Psychological Screen (RtAPS) on 25 August 2002, Signalman Gregg completed a series of mental health screening questions and participated in a psychological screening interview with a senior psychologist. 

Psychological testing is not conducted as part of the pre-deployment medical checklist or post-deployment medical review.

b)
Following the psychiatrist’s report of 30 April 2003, Defence referred Signalman Gregg to another specialist on 8 May 2003. This psychiatrist, in a report dated 25 August  2003, stated, ‘Mr. Gregg presents with Post Traumatic Stress Disorder directly due to his operational service in Afghanistan.’ Signalman Gregg attended a number of specialist appointments from 8 May 2003 through until his discharge. 

Signalman Gregg’s medical classification was first reviewed by a medical officer who, on 22 May 2003, classified him as Medical Classification (MEC) 304 (this indicates that he was assessed as non effective on medical grounds for a period between 28 days and four months). Following subsequent assessment and psychiatric treatment, his medical classification was reviewed again on 14 October 2003 and he was classified MEC 403 (this indicates that he was assessed as non effective on medical grounds for a period in excess of four months). 

In November 2003, Defence referred Signalman Gregg to a third psychiatrist who, in a report dated 11 December 2003, diagnosed PTSD. He related this to Signalman Gregg’s service in Afghanistan. Signalman Gregg underwent in‑patient treatment in a clinic specialising in the treatment of PTSD from 11 February 2004 to 2 April 2004. The principal diagnosis was stated to be PTSD, with a secondary diagnosis of depression. During his final medical board on 28 April 2004, his medical classification was again reviewed and MEC 403 was confirmed on 5 May 2004. Signalman Gregg was then medically discharged.

c)
Details of the discussion that occurred during the specialist appointment are not held on Signalman Gregg’s Unit Medical Record.

d)
Signaller Gregg was not transferred out of his unit following his diagnosis of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD).  He remained in his unit under the influence of his chain of command. As a result of his PTSD, he was medically downgraded, but was assessed as being able to regain his medical fitness within 12 months and was being medically managed towards recovery.

e)
No, but Defence responded to a request from the office of the Minister Assisting the Minister for Defence.

f)
Psychological testing was conducted on 6 and 22 December 1999 as part of the enlistment process. On 6 December 2000, he underwent psychological testing for posting to 152 Signal Squadron. Signalman Gregg underwent further psychological testing for Special Air Service Regiment selection on 30 March 2001 and again on 1 November 2002.

In addition to psychological testing, Signalman Gregg participated in mental health screening as a component of the RtAPS on 25 August 2002 and a Post Operational Psychological Screen on 21 November 2002. Psychological testing may have many purposes including mental health screening. It may be for the purpose of testing IQ, personality variables, establishing occupational ability, or many other purposes. Mental health screening is a process that identifies those in need of further mental health assessment. It does not establish a diagnosis.

From 30 April 2003 until time of discharge, Signalman Gregg attended numerous specialist appointments (inclusive of a period of hospitalisation) associated with assessment, treatment and management of his psychiatric condition. 

g)
Psychological Assessment Record – Trailer is the name of the form used in Defence to record details of psychological consultations. The term 'Trailer' is an historical term, which indicates that it is a continuing record (for example, it forms part of an audit 'trail'); the 'Trailer' is an addition to the original record of assessment (the Psychological Assessment Record) raised when the person first encounters a Defence psychologist, as part of the recruitment and selection process.

h)
The independent report compiled by the Inspector General ADF found that at the time of his posting to 152 Signal Squadron, Signaller Gregg did not meet the psychological criteria for posting to a Special Forces support unit. On that basis, Signaller Gregg should not have been posted to 152 Signal Squadron. Remedial action has been directed within Army to ensure this circumstance does not arise again.
i)
There was an interview on 23 April 2001 between Signaller Gregg and the newly appointed Royal Australian Signals Corps Career Manager. It is not known who generated the request for the interview, however the record of interview indicates that the interview was conducted in person. This record of interview was acknowledged by Signaller Gregg on 23 April 2001. The interview record shows discussion occurred in areas of promotion, courses and proposed future postings.

j)
As a component of his application for entry into the ADF, Signalman Gregg completed a medical assessment at ADF Recruiting on 6 December 1999. An Entry Medical Examination was conducted on 12 February 2000. An Attestation Medical assessment was carried out on 14 March 2000 and he was found to be ‘fit’. 

k)
There is no documentation on Signalman Gregg’s medical or psychological file to indicate that he participated in psychological counseling at the time.

l)
The Unit Medical Record indicates that an Annual Health Assessment was conducted on 25 November 2002, signed by a Corporal Medical Assistant and confirmed by a Captain Medical Officer on 24 January 2003. Signalman Gregg had a post deployment medical check on 21 August 2002 conducted by a medical officer. He reported ‘Pretty well in Afghanistan’, ‘No major illnesses’, ‘Exposed to excessive loud noise without ear protection, this was due to a contact (ambush) on May 16’, ’Developed tinnitus (ringing in the ears) and ? hearing loss, need audiometry on RTA’.

m)
The date of the correspondence was 10 April 2007 and the Minister Assisting the Minister for Defence referred the matter to Defence.

	Question 14
	
	

	Tritium
	

	Senator Faulkner
Hansard, 31 May 2007, pp. 39-43
	


a)
Have the number of compasses discarded due to tritium contamination ever resulted in an inadequate number of compasses being available to personnel?

b)
How many of the recommendations made by the Queensland Health Scientific Services (QHSS) were acted upon?

c)
What has the Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Agency (ARPANSA) said about Defence being properly licensed or not to handle tritium?

d)
Will Mr Orme’s report be made public?

e)
Please provide the number of incident reports that have been lodged for exposure to tritium.

RESPONSE

a)
No.

b)
From the three reports provided there were a total of 56 recommendations.  Of these, 54 have now been completed and two continue to be progressed as part of the Tritium Implementation Project which is addressing the recommendations made in Mr Orme’s Review into Defence policy and procedures for the management of tritium light sources.

c)
The CEO of ARPANSA released a Media Release on 27 April 2007 in which he stated that: “Defence was issued a licence to deal with controlled material (excluding unsealed radioactive sources) and controlled apparatus in 2001. It has been recognised that the Defence licence inventory of sources needs updating and such updates have occurred. ARPANSA is currently assessing an overall amendment to the Defence Source Licence.”

d)
The previous Minister for Defence, the Hon Dr Brendan Nelson MP released the findings of Mr Orme’s review to the public on 27 July 2007.  

e)
Comcare advises that its database contains 18 AC563 ‘Incident and Fatality’ reports related to exposure to tritium contamination.  Please note that the use of the term ‘fatality’ is a generic heading and there have been no fatalities in the ADF from exposure to tritium contamination.  

	W9
	
	

	Far East Prisoners of War
	

	Senator Evans
	


Why is the Government refusing to recognise prisoners of war executed by the Japanese for attempting to escape with an Australian gallantry award?

RESPONSE

The general principle of making an award to a prisoner of war (POW) for services rendered in captivity, or in attempting to escape, or escaping from captivity dates from World War I.  Based on this earlier practice, authorities considered the circumstances surrounding the escape of World War II POWs with a view to recommending a gallantry award.  

There is no scope to re-open matters in relation to gallantry and distinguished service in respect of Word War II service. Advice in a despatch from the Dominions Office to the Governor-General in 1945 stated, inter alia, “the 1946 Birthday Honours List will be the final non-operational list for the Pacific Theatre.” This was re-confirmed by the Queen in 1965 and further advice in 1983 from the Private Secretary to The Queen to the Official Secretary to the Governor-General in the context of all operational awards advised that, “a general decision taken by the late King in 1952, and which has remained in force ever since, precludes such permission being granted for any award for war services proposed after that date.”
Given this advice, contemporary Australian awards also cannot be used. Although the Vietnam End of War List (EOWL) might be seen as a precedent for re-visiting and translating decorations, as contemporary Australian awards were used instead of Imperial awards, it is not comparable. Each award in the Vietnam EOWL was based on an existing recommendation and was handled in the context of an EOWL, which is now officially closed, as is the EOWL for World War II.

It would be inappropriate to approach the Queen on this matter as it would place her in an invidious position given the King’s decree and her confirmation of it. 

	W14
	
	

	Unconfirmed War Graves at Pheasant Wood
	

	Senator Evans
	


a) Has Defence finalised selection of the team to undergo an on-site investigation of the war graves near Pheasant Wood?

(i) If yes, what were the criteria for selecting the team?

(ii) Who made the decision? 

(iii) Who is on this team and what are their qualifications and relevant experience?

(iv) What assistance, financial and otherwise, will be provided to this team by Defence? Can we please have a detailed breakdown of any financial assistance that will be provided? 

b) Was Defence presented with any other alternative options?  If so, why were they refused?

c) Did any Australian companies or teams offer to conduct the search?  If yes, at what cost of the offer to conduct the research and what were their qualifications?

d) Is the Government aware of any problems using ground-penetrating radar for this specific recovery operation?  If yes, when did it become aware of these problems and what is it doing to address them?

e) If the ground-penetrating radar fails to find anything, will the Government consider other techniques or consider this matter closed? 

f) In a Media Release on 6 February 2007, Minister Billson said in relation to these events ‘An expert panel was convened by the Australian Government to investigate the claims relating to the Pheasant Wood site’.

(i) When was this expert panel established?

(ii) Who is on this expert panel?

(iii) How often did the panel meet?  Can we please have dates, purposes and outcomes provided for each meeting?

(iv) On what date did the expert panel decide an on-site investigation was warranted?

g)
Has the Government made any attempts to guarantee the integrity and security of the site in question?

h)
What is the current progress of the investigation into the Pheasant Wood site?

RESPONSE

a.
Yes. A non-invasive survey of the site was undertaken by Glasgow University Archaeological Division (GUARD) in May 2007, to determine the presence or otherwise of remains at the site. This survey could not determine beyond doubt, that remains still lie at the Fromelles site and GUARD was further contracted to undertake a limited excavation at the site. This excavation is due to commence on 2 April 2008 and will complete the investigation into claims that there are still un-recovered Australian war dead on the site. It is planned that the limited excavation will be overseen by a Joint Management Group, chaired by the Commonwealth War Graves Commission and consisting of representatives from Britain, France and Australia. Should the presence of remains be confirmed, a consensus on recovery and identification will be sought from all three Governments. Consequently, no decision has been made on the appointment of a forensic recovery team.
(i) GUARD was appointed on a sole tender basis to undertake the non-invasive survey in May 2007 and subsequently the limited excavation planned for April 2008. GUARD met the selection criteria; they had the necessary archaeological experience, were available to undertake the survey at relatively short notice and had the confidence of the British All Parliamentary War Graves and Battlefield Heritage Group and the local French archaeological service.

(ii) The former Minister Assisting the Minister for Defence, the Hon Bruce Billson MP approved a non-invasive survey of the site and the subsequent limited excavation. The former Deputy Chief of the Army, MAJGEN John Cantwell approved all expenditure of funds under sole tender conditions.

(iii) Key persons on the GUARD team are:

a. Dr Tony Pollard.  Dr Pollard is a Director of GUARD and holds a M.A. (Hons) Archaeology (2.1) and a Ph.D. Thesis, Archaeology both from the University of Glasgow. He has supervised and directed no less than 25 survey and or excavation projects. Dr Pollard devised and taught the first ever university course on battlefield archaeology and is well regarded in this field. 
b. Dr Iain Banks. Dr Banks is a Director of GUARD and M.A. (Hons) Archaeology (2.1) and holds a Ph.D. Thesis, Archaeology both from the University of Glasgow. He has significant battlefield archaeological survey and excavation experience including recent experience in France. 
(iv) The cost of the initial non-invasive survey was 150 000AUD. The cost of the limited excavation will be no more than 445 000AUD.

b.
Yes. One group and a number of individual citizens indicated a strong desire to be involved in the proposed investigative operation, and some presented proposals including invasive, physical studies.  No consideration was given to any of these offers because the Australian Government considers that matters pertaining to Australian Service personnel killed overseas on active service remain the sole responsibility of the Australian Government and the Service to which they belonged. Experience has shown that the families of the missing, or indeed members of the wider community, do not support the Australian Government divesting itself of this responsibility to a private group.
c.
Yes. One Australian group did put forward an offer at no cost to the Commonwealth. The leader of this team was a lawyer with, to the Expert Panel’s knowledge, no previous experience in archaeological activities. One proposed member of the team was Australian forensic archaeologist Professor Richard Wright, a former Emeritus Professor of Anthropology at the University of Sydney. The other proposed team members included a logistics officer from the United Kingdom, a Forensic Archaeologist and proposed Excavation Director, an Archaeologist from the United Kingdom and an Explosive Ordnance Demolition/Disposal Officer from United Kingdom.  

d.
The ground penetrating radar and other survey techniques were successful in further informing the claim that remains lie at the site. It was never intended that ground penetrating radar would be used in the recovery of remains. A decision to recover any remains, should they be discovered during the limited excavation, will be a joint British, French and Australian decision.

e.
The ground penetrating radar and other survey techniques used by GUARD indicated that the site was used to bury remains and it is unlikely that these remains were recovered subsequently. In order to prove their presence, beyond doubt, the limited excavation has been commissioned.

f.
(i)
March 2005 

(ii)
As a result of staff and other movements, the composition of the committee changed slightly between the first and second meetings of the Expert Panel.

The Expert Panel at the first meeting consisted of:

Mr Roger Lee



Army History Unit (Chair)

Professor John Williams

Independent expert

Professor Bill Gammage

Australian National University

Associate Professor Iain Spence
University of New England

Professor Jeffrey Grey


Australian Defence Force Academy

Dr Bruce Scates


University of New South Wales

Dr Peter Stanley


Australian War Memorial

Mr (now Dr) Garth Pratten

Australian War Memorial

Mr Craig Tibbitts


Australian War Memorial (Official Records)

Air Vice Marshal Gary Beck

Office of Australian War Graves

Mrs Kathy Upton


Office of Australian War Graves

Warrant Officer Keith Knight

Defence Imagery and Geospatial Organisation

Mr Bill Houston


Army History Unit

Mr Brian Manns 


Army History Unit

Ms Emma Robertson


Army History Unit (Secretary)

At the second meeting, the new Director of the Office of Australian War Graves, Major General Paul Stevens replaced Air Vice Marshal Beck, and Mr Chris Atkinson replaced Ms Robertson as Secretary. Mr Ric Pelvin, Consultant Historian, and Mr Nigel Steel, Visiting Historian from the Imperial War Museum and joint Secretary to the British Parliamentary All Party Committee on British War Graves and Battlefields were additions to the second meeting. 

(iii)
Three times. Once on Friday 10 June 2005 and again on Friday 15 December 2006 and a third time on 25 July 2007.

The Panel was tasked at its first meeting to receive a presentation on the evidence being put forward to substantiate a claim relating to the existence of a mass grave of possible Australian war dead from the Battle of Fromelles. The Panel was tasked with advising the Army and the Minister Assisting the Minister for Defence whether, in its opinion, there was sufficient compelling evidence, as provided for in the relevant regulations, to justify further investigation of the claims by the Australian Army.
The Panel concluded that, while the evidence as presented was not conclusive, there was sufficient doubt to warrant the seeking of more evidence. The Panel recommended that more evidence from the German Archives be sought and several possible clues believed to exist within the local French community be pursued. The Panel agreed to reconvene when this additional material was obtained, review it and provide a recommendation to the Army and the Minister Assisting the Minister for Defence.

The Panel reconvened to consider the new and additional evidence that had been collected during the intervening period. The Panel felt that the new evidence was sufficiently compelling to support the conclusion that the Germans had buried the bodies of war dead in the pits near Pheasant Wood as alleged. The Panel felt, however, that the evidence supporting the contention that the dead had not been recovered in the extensive post-war clearance operations was, as presented, not sufficiently compelling within the intention of the Regulations, to support a recommendation for a full archaeological excavation of the site. However, the Panel did consider that the quality of the evidence available to support or reject proposing such an excavation was incomplete and unreliable.  

The Panel agreed that further evidence was needed.  On the suggestion of a visiting expert, co-opted by the Panel to assist it in its deliberations, the Panel agreed that some physical examination of the site, by methods that would not disturb the integrity of any remains should they be present, be undertaken to determine whether any physical clues, such as expended ammunition patterns, might exist to aid the Panel in its deliberations. Consequently, the Panel recommended that a non-invasive survey of the site be undertaken to further refine the case for further action.  

The Panel recommended to the Army and the Minister Assisting the Minister for Defence that a specialist team be approached and asked to undertake the survey. The Panel also recommended that, given the level of legitimate public interest and the quite reasonable restraint shown by those arguing the existence of the grave over the time the process was taking, that this aspect of the investigation be undertaken as soon as possible.

The Expert panel met a third time, on 25 July 2007, to consider the non-invasive survey report. The Panel recommended that additional archival research be undertaken in the State Archives in Munich and a limited excavation be commissioned to determine, beyond doubt, the presence of remains at the site. The additional archival research is nearing completion. 

g.
The site is sovereign French territory and as such its security is a matter for the French authorities, who are well aware of the issues involved and have their own procedures in place. The local French community is very supportive of the investigation and interested in its outcome.  

h.
The limited excavation is scheduled to commence on 02 April 2008. French Government approval has been sought and given subject to the requirement that overarching control of the investigation resides with the Commonwealth War Graves Commission. Approval from the land owner and tenant is pending, but expected in the near future. Final notification of British involvement in the Joint Management Group has not yet been received. Representatives of the Australian Army will represent Australian on the Joint Management Group.

	W16
	
	

	Indigenous Recruitment
	

	Senator Evans
	


a) What is currently being done to encourage Indigenous Australians to enlist in the ADF?

b) Is the ADF aware of concerns that Indigenous Australians, specifically those in regional and remote locations, are failing the language component of the selection process test? 

c) What has the ADF done to deal with this issue? 

d) Has the ADF considered implementing a revised language test for Indigenous Australians? 

e) Does the ADF follow up Indigenous Australians who fail the language component of the test?  

RESPONSE

a)  In northern Australia, Defence is the largest single employer of Indigenous Australians due to its Regional Force Surveillance Units (RFSU) and a strong historical link between the ADF and the Indigenous community. However, Indigenous Australians still only comprise 0.6% of the Defence workforce compared to 1.4% of the wider Australian workforce. The Defence Reconciliation Action Plan (DRAP) was launched by the Chief of the Defence Force and the Secretary of Defence in July 2007 and aims to raise awareness of Indigenous culture within Defence and to encourage greater Indigenous participation in Defence. In accordance with the DRAP, Defence Force Recruiting (DFR) has developed the draft ADF Indigenous Recruitment Strategy (IRS). The ADF IRS is due to be considered by the Defence Personnel Committee next month as part of the wider Defence Indigenous Recruitment and Retention Strategy.
The ADF IRS aim to attract and recruit more Indigenous Australians to an ADF career and was developed in consultation with various internal and external stakeholders. The ADF IRS takes into account the different needs of remote, regional and urban Indigenous Australians through three main themes:

· to change perceptions of the ADF by Indigenous Australians and to incorporate Indigenous Australian culture and improve the level of knowledge and respect of that culture into the wider ADF;

· to provide specialised pathways for Indigenous ADF candidates to meet the ADF entry requirements (including linkages to the ADF Cadet Indigenous Participation Program and Army’s RFSUs); and

· to provide ongoing support to Indigenous ADF members throughout their careers to improve retention.

b) The general DFR selection process consists of a General Aptitude test, a type of psychological aptitude testing. While this testing is not specifically aimed at determining literacy and numeracy skills, a candidate is required to perform calculations and read text in order to complete the test. The following observations are made:
i)
The General Aptitude test is designed to ensure that eligible candidates can meet the training outcomes of ADF training. Potentially, an Indigenous Australian candidate who struggles with literacy and numeracy, could be screened out on these tests.  
ii)
Indigenous candidates applying for the RFSUs undertake literacy and numeracy testing during the selection process, but there are currently no minimum scores required for these tests. Therefore, candidates cannot be 'failed' on the testing. A DFR psychologist then interviews each candidate and makes a recommendation on the candidate’s likelihood to cope with training and employment in the RFSU. The RFSU Commanding Officer then makes the decision on whether or not the candidate is offered a position.
c) A candidate's ability to meet the General Aptitude Score required of a particular military job is an indicator of how they would cope with the requirements of military training. If an Indigenous Australian candidate applies for general entry to the ADF, they will be required to complete the ability/aptitude testing completed by all other applicants. The only alternative to this testing regime is that in place for the RFSU members. Impediments to Indigenous Australians applying to the ADF are under review as part of the ADF Indigenous Recruitment Strategy. Other federal and state government departments, particularly DEEWR and respective state education departments, are committed to improving literacy and numeracy skills for Indigenous Australians. DFR will maintain close networks with such departments in order to improve the recruitment of Indigenous Australians.
d) No, as for general entry there is no language aptitude test.  Impediments, including the level and content of the literacy and numeracy testing to Indigenous Australians applying to the ADF, are being reviewed as part of the ADF Indigenous Recruitment Strategy.
e) No. As noted there is no language component of the General Aptitude test. On the application form for general entry to the ADF, applicants can declare whether they wish to have their identity as an Indigenous Australian recognised. Most do not do so for personal reasons, including a wish to be treated on their own merits, rather than receiving any perceived difference in comparison to other applicants. This makes it difficult for DFR to follow up on specific Indigenous issues. The ADF Indigenous Recruitment Strategy seeks to introduce support systems throughout the recruiting process to assist Indigenous Australians applying for an ADF career.
DEFENCE OUTCOMES

Outcome 1: Operations
	W41  
	
	

	Medical Personnel
	

	Senator Evans
	


a) How many medical officer positions are unfilled for:

(i) Navy

(ii) Army

(iii) Air Force

Please include relevant Reserve totals.

b) What actions are currently being undertaken to address any shortfall in the recruitment and retention of medical personnel?

c) How many medical personnel are deployed on

(i) Operation Catalyst

(ii) Operation Astute

(iii) Operation Slipper 

(iv) Operation Resolute

(v) Operation Anode

(vi) Operation Mazurka

(vii) Operation Azure 

(viii) Operation Paladin

(ix) Operation Tower

Please include which detachments and units they are deployed with and the number of personnel that they are required to service. 

d) For all current operations that the ADF is participating in can Defence guarantee that there is adequate medical coverage?  If yes, is this coverage being supplied by Australians?  If no, where are the shortfalls?

RESPONSE

a)
(i)
Navy
Permanent Navy Force 
  17 medical officer positions are unfilled.

Reserve

  No Reserve Medical Officer positions are unfilled.

 (ii)
Army
Australian Regular Army (as at December 2007)
  20 full time medical officer positions are unfilled.
Reserve
  101 Medical Officer positions are unfilled in the Active Reserve.
 (iii)
Air Force


  11 Medical Officer positions are unfilled.

 (iv)
Reserve 

  81 Reserve Medical Officer positions are unfilled.

b)
Medical Officer recruitment has been identified as one of the highest recruiting priorities for the ADF. The number of sponsored positions for trainee Medical Officers has been increased. Specialist Health Recruiting Cells have been raised in Sydney, Melbourne and Brisbane to implement recruiting strategies and establish links with tertiary institutions and health organisation. Proposed changes to career structures, categories of service and training liabilities across the Services will make a career in the ADF more attractive.  In terms of retention initiatives, Defence has recently commenced providing financial support ($10 000 per annum) to ADF medical officers to attend professional development activities to acquire additional skills and qualifications in order to provide comparable benefits available in the civilian health workforce. The ADF is reviewing flexible primary health care delivery systems to release Medical Officers to concentrate on more challenging medicine and introducing trauma modules to provide Medical Officers with necessary training for the deployed environment. Close mentoring and personnel support to Medical Officers should also improve retention.

 c)
How many medical personnel are deployed on

i) Operation Catalyst – Total = 1257 

6 x Doctor

4 x Nurse

21 x Medical Support Staff incl psych staff

ii) Operation Astute – Total = 758 

1 x Doctor

14 x Medical Support Staff incl psych staff

Other medical support provided by civilian contractors (Aspen through Toll – PDL)

iii) Operation Slipper – Total = 1042 

3 x Doctor

1 x Surgeon

1 x Anaethetist

7 x Nurse

11 x Medical Support Staff

iv) Operation Resolute – Total = 400 

a. For the major fleet unit, medical support is provided by the medical staff embedded within the ship’s company. Regional Force Surveillance Units deployed on Operation Resolute have one Medical Support member in the vicinity of each patrol area.  The minor fleet units do not have specific medical personnel in support, but have crew cross-trained with advanced first aid skills.

v) Operation Anode – Total = 138 

b. 3 x Medical Support Staff

c. Other medical support provided by civilian contractors (Aspen through the Australian Federal Police).

vi) Operation Mazurka – Total – 25

d. Nil.  Medical support is provided by the Multination Force and Observers.

vii) Operation Azure – Total – 15

e. Nil.  All staff complete advanced First Aid Course (Combat First Aid).  Medical support is provided by the United Nations contingent.

viii) Operation Paladin – Total = 12 

f. Nil.  Medical support is provided by the United Nations contingent.

ix) Operation Tower – Total = 4 

g. Nil.  Medical support is provided by the United Nations contingent.

d)
For all ADF operations, with the exception of Operation Resolute, there is adequate medical coverage supplied by ADF personnel, Coalition partners and/or contractors.  For Operation Resolute, there is adequate medical coverage provided by Australians available on major fleet units when they are involved.  For Regional Force Surveillance Unit patrols and minor fleet units deployed on Operation Resolute, the nature of the terrain and the remoteness of the operating areas may result in delays in access to treatment.

	W47  
	
	

	Body found on Christmas Island
	

	Senator Evans
	


a) When will the examination and investigations be finalised in regard to the body found on Christmas Island, believed to have been a crew member of HMAS Sydney?

b) What is the current status of these investigations and examinations?

RESPONSE

a) The forensic examinations of the remains recovered from Christmas Island in October 2006, believed to have been a crew member of HMAS Sydney, have concluded with the exception of the possible extraction of nuclear DNA from the remains (mitochondrial DNA, which is only traceable through maternal lines, has already been successfully extracted). This DNA testing is expected to be complete in the near future, dependent on workload at the Australian Centre for Ancient DNA (ACAD) in Adelaide. 

The investigation will not be finalised until the conclusion of the identification process, which involves conducting interviews and DNA testing and comparison with surviving relatives of personnel short listed as potential matches for the remains. Interviews and testing are being conducted progressively as suitable relatives are identified, pursuant to availability of the forensic team and ACAD. Suitable relatives (with regard to DNA testing) for some of the short-listed personnel are proving difficult to locate. If viable nuclear DNA can not be obtained, or if no positive match is made with the relatives of currently short-listed personnel, the identification process has the potential to be protracted, and may ultimately be inconclusive. To this end, Navy plans to rebury the remains 19 November 2008, on the 67th anniversary of the ship’s loss. In the event the remains are not identified by November, the DNA sequencing will be kept on file to enable comparison against relatives of the lost Sydney (II) crew into the future.
b) he investigation can be broadly categorised into two areas: probable cause of death, and the identification process.
(i)
Probable cause of death.
The pathological findings confirmed that the time since death appears to be between 50 and 100 years. This is consistent with the timeframe of the sinking of HMAS Sydney.
The pathology report found that, while there were multiple fractures, there were two major skull injuries that ultimately resulted in the death of the unknown sailor; one resulting from a shrapnel wound, and the other from a blow to the head (possibly as a result of a fall). 
The report concluded that it was not possible to determine how long the individual may have survived these injuries. 
The Australian War Memorial report has confirmed that the fragment found in the unknown sailor’s skull was not a small arms projectile, as there is no trace of lead. The report’s  conclusion (based on elemental analysis) is that the fragment may be a piece of shrapnel from a German large calibre armour piercing projectile. 
Based on the above analyses, it has been assessed that the unknown sailor died as a result of either a shrapnel wound to the front of the head or a subsequent blow to the back of the head (or a combination of the two), as a result of the World War II engagement between HMAS Sydney and the German raider Kormoran.

(ii)
Identification process. 
At this point, no positive identification has been made, although over 500 crew-members of the HMAS Sydney II have been excluded as possible matches on the basis of dental and anthropological (age and height) analyses. The results of clothing analysis conducted through the Australian War Memorial further narrowed the field, through the development of assumptions as to who might have been wearing white coveralls during action stations. 

The Christmas Island forensic team initially produced a short list of the three most likely matches for the remains, based on the assumption that Engineering officers and Warrant Officers would have been most likely to be dressed in white coveralls. 

Mitochondrial DNA was successfully extracted from the teeth of the remains and comparative testing was carried out for relatives of the initially shortlisted crew. This testing found that none of the three shortlisted officers were a match for the remains.

An expanded shortlist was subsequently produced which incorporated all officers and Warrant Officers not excluded on dental or anthropological grounds and some additional individuals whose action stations dress was unknown. There were 13 crew members on the revised shortlist, and investigative work has been ongoing to trace suitable relatives for interview and/or DNA testing.  Four of the revised shortlist have been positively excluded to date (two on the basis of age, two on the basis of DNA testing). Attempts continue to locate suitable relatives for some of the short-listed personnel and arrange interview times.

One of the key limiting factors in DNA matching is that Navy currently only has a mitochondrial DNA sample from the remains which is traceable along maternal lines. This limits the forensic team in the pool of suitable relatives for testing. The Australian Centre for Ancient DNA in Adelaide is currently in the process of attempting to extract nuclear DNA from the remains. If they are able to do so, the task of matching the remains with surviving relatives using DNA will become much easier.

OUTCOME 3: ARMY

	W48  
	
	

	Trooper Lawrence
	

	Senator Evans
	


a) Can you please outline the recent findings in the Federal Court in relation to the matter between Comcare and Defence regarding the death of Trooper Lawrence from acute heat stroke?

b) Excluding the fine handed down what was the cost to Defence of these court proceedings?

c) Has the $200,000 fine be paid yet?  If yes, where did the money go? If not, will Defence take the advice of the Justice Madgwick and pay this money, or a proportion of it to the family of Trooper Lawrence?

d) Have there been any other examples of cases where Defence has been taken to court by Comcare, or any other Commonwealth agency, for negligence?  

RESPONSE

a)
Information about the Federal Court Decision is as follows:

· The Federal Court decision was delivered on 4 May 2007. 

· Comcare and the Commonwealth of Australia agreed on the terms of a declaration that the Commonwealth had contravened the Occupational Health and Safety (Commonwealth Employment) Act 1991.

· The issue before the Court was the level of financial penalty to be imposed on the Commonwealth for the admitted breaches.

· The Court imposed a penalty of 1,800 penalty units ($198,000). This sum was less than the available maximum penalty of 2,200 penalty units ($250,000). The reduction reflected the Court’s regard to the “Army’s frank and honest acceptance of its shortcomings and its commendable efforts to mend them.”

· The Commonwealth was ordered to pay Comcare’s costs and disbursements.

b)
Defence financial systems indicate that as at 18 February 2008 the total professional legal fees and disbursements expended in this matter was $136,017.90. Additionally, $25,294.44 was paid pursuant to Appendix E to the Legal Services Directions issued by the Attorney General under section 55ZF of the Judiciary Act 1903 (Assistance to Commonwealth Employees for Legal Proceedings).
c)
The penalty, as noted above, is $198,000.00, and was paid on 13 August 2007 to Comcare. The Federal Court ordered that Defence pays a “penalty”. This is payable by Defence to Comcare which, in turn, will pay the penalty to the Consolidated Revenue Fund. Comcare and Defence have no authority under the present legislative provisions to make a payment of the penalty to Trooper Lawrence’s family. However, one family member, has submitted a request for an act of grace payment to the Department of Finance and Deregulation in respect of the death. Defence is assisting the Department of Finance and Deregulation with the provision of information that will assist in the consideration of the request.

d)
No. Comcare is responsible for action under the Occupational Health and Safety (Commonwealth Employment) Act 1991. Comcare has no power to take any action for “negligence”.
	W55  
	
	

	Reservists
	

	Senator Sherry
	


a) What is the total Reservists’ wage bill each year?

b) How many Reservists are there in the Reserve Force?

c) What is the average pay/salary of a Reservist?

d) What is the average number of hours/days worked per year by a Reservist?

e) How many High Readiness Reservists are there?

f) How many operationally deployed Reservists are there? 

g) How many Reservists rely on Reserve Service as their only employment?

RESPONSE

a) The estimated expenditure for 2006–07 was $171.7m, as per page 95 of the Portfolio Budget Statements. Expenditure in previous financial years can be obtained through the respective Defence Annual Report. Given that questions (a), (c) and (d) were answered using FY06/07 data. (These results are still valid. A comparison with FY07/08 will not be available until later this year.)

b) The estimated number of Active Reserve personnel for 2006–07 was 19, 250, as per page 92 of the 2006–07 Portfolio Budget Statements. (Today: 20 793.)

c) Based on estimated Reserve salary expenditure for 2006–07 against estimated active Reservists, the current figure is approximately $8 890 per individual. (This will ultimately change to reflect the changed numbers above but it cannot be determined within the timeframe.) 

d) Based on data available at 28 June 2007, the average number of days worked per year by a reservist was 21.3 days. As (a).
e) As at 29 June 2007 there were 797 members of the High Readiness Reserve. (Today: 1 026.)

f) Current deployed Reservists—200 (3 Navy, 190 Army, 7 Air Force).

g) Defence does not currently hold this information and is unable to answer the question.

	W57  
	
	

	Military Superannuation review
	

	Senator Sherry
	


a) When is the report of the review likely to be complete?

b) When is the Government’s response to the review likely to be ready?

c) Has the review received any submissions on the issues discussed above? If so, is the final report likely to address these issues?

RESPONSE

a) The report of the Review into Military Superannuation Arrangements was completed on 31 July 2007. The Rudd Government released it to the public on 24 December 2007.

b) There is no pre-determined timeline for the Rudd Government's response to the Review. In releasing the Report to the public, the Government announced a public consultation period that will end on 31 March 2008. The Government will consider its position on the Review recommendations following the public consultation period.

c) It is presumed that when the Senator is referring to ‘above’, he is indicating W54, W56 and W58 respectively, which raised questions concerning indexation, superannuation for Reservists and ‘income tasking’. These issues were raised in submissions received by the review. Indexation and superannuation for Reservists were included in the terms of reference for the Review and recommendations have been made on these matters. Income stacking is a taxation matter that the Review team considered outside their terms of reference. The Review report is available at at www.defence.gov.au/militarysuperreview
	W59
	
	

	Proportioning rule
	

	Senator Sherry
	


a) Has the Government, Treasury and/or Comsuper given Defence an unequivocal guarantee that DFRDB members will not be worse off after 1 July 2007 as a result of the new superannuation and tax rules, in particular the proportioning rule?

b) Has Defence sought an unequivocal guarantee from the Government, Treasury and/or Comsuper that DFRDB members will not be worse off after 1 July 2007 as a result of the new superannuation and tax rules, in particular the proportioning rule?

c) Has the Government, Treasury and/or Comsuper given Defence an unequivocal guarantee that MSBS members will not be worse off after 1 July 2007 as a result of the new superannuation and tax rules, in particular the proportioning rule?

d) Has Defence sought an unequivocal guarantee from the Government, Treasury and/or Comsuper that MSBS members will not be worse off after 1 July 2007 as a result of the new superannuation and tax rules, in particular the proportioning rule?

RESPONSE

a) Yes. The previous Government said in a Press Release by the former Minister for Revenue on10 April 2007 that the relevant regulations would not change the tax treatment of any DFRDB lump sum benefit from 1 July 2007.
b) No
c) Yes. The previous Government said in a Press Release by the former Minister for Revenue on 4 September 2007, that “The government does not intend that any retiring Defence Force personnel be disadvantaged by the introduction of the Better Super changes which took effect on 1 July 2007.So as to provide certainty and put the issue beyond doubt the Government has already said it will be amending the relevant regulations.” The amended regulations took effect in early October 2007with retrospective effect from 1 July2007. The former Minister's statement clarified the situation with regard to the application of the new superannuation tax regulations to members of the MSBS.
d) No.
	W60
	
	

	DHA Home Ownership Assistance Scheme
	

	Senator Evans
	


a) (PBS 2007–08, p101) When was the review of housing released, and what were its recommendations? Will the new scheme entail legislation and when will it be introduced? Can Defence provide a copy of the report?

b) I understand that the new Defence Home Ownership scheme represents the Government’s response to a review of the Defence Home Loans scheme that was conducted last year.  Is that correct?

c) What was the motivation for the review?  

d) Who conducted the review?  Was it a departmental review?

e) When did the Minister receive a copy of the report?

f) Has the report of the review been released?

g) Will the Government release the report of the review? If not why?

h) What stakeholders were consulted on the review? How many submissions were received? 

i) What was the take-up rate under the old scheme? 

j) How many Defence personnel (permanent and reservists) were eligible? 

k) Can Defence confirm that the new scheme requires legislation?

l) When is the Bill expected to be introduced?

m) According to the budget papers, the new scheme will not be available to Defence personnel until next financial year.  What is the reason for the delay?  Why can the Government not move more quickly?

n) What transitional arrangements will apply to those on the current scheme? Can people simply move to the new scheme?

o) How many Defence personnel (permanent and reservists) will be eligible for the scheme when it becomes operational? ie What is Defence’s estimate of how many permanent ADF members will have more than four years service.

p) How many Reservists will have more than eight years of service?

q) What is the forecast take up rate of the new scheme?

r) Please outline the process when ADF personnel leave the ADF. When and how will the new reduced subsidy scheme apply?

s) In this case will the benefit of the subsidy to which the previous ADF serviceperson enjoyed be cashed out?  If not how will the lower subsidy on leaving the ADF be applied?

t) Permanent members of the ADF of up to four years standing and Reservists of up to eight years will not be eligible to receive any benefits under the scheme. Can you explain the rationale for this policy?

u) Did the terms of review not entail looking at recruitment?

v) Why does the Government think that subsidised home loans are an incentive to stay but not an incentive to join the ADF?

w) Did the Government examine the costs of extending the scheme to cover ADF members during their first four years of service or Reservists in their first eight years?

x) The new scheme sets out various subsidy amounts depending on the length of service. For example an ADF member of five years standing is entitled to a 37.5 per cent interest subsidy on a loan of up to $160,000. For an ADF member of 10 years standing, the subsidy applies to a loan of up to $234,000. Can Defence explain how the thresholds were determined? What is the methodology behind the numbers?

y) Does Defence accept that even for an ADF member who has been serving for 12 years, the discounted loan only represents 60 per cent of the cost of purchasing the median home in Sydney?

z) For someone who has been in the ADF for a decade the subsidised loan would only cover 46 per cent of the median house in Perth? How did Defence come up with these thresholds? 

aa) Does the Government believe that the scheme will boost recruitment and retention? Has the Government quantified the impact?

ab) Given that Defence thinks this package will have a positive impact, can Defence explain why the Minister’s media release on budget night shows the cost of the subsidised housing program actually falling after 2014–15?

ac) Please explain the Fringe Benefits Tax liability to the Commonwealth of these new arrangements.

ad) Has any consideration been undertaken as to how this new scheme will interact with the Family Tax Benefit?  Is it possible that as a result of this new scheme the reportable Fringe Benefit Tax liability will be grossed up to reduce the family tax benefits of ADF families?

ae) Have ADF personnel been advised or will they be advised on potential reductions in family tax benefit from the operation of this new scheme?

RESPONSE

a)
The review and recommendations have not been released for the reasons previously provided in response to Question W53 (q).

Further advice from Defence Legal and central agencies recommended that the new scheme be supported by specific legislation in order to best accommodate a special appropriation and to avoid unnecessary complication of Defence Act 1903 that would arise if the scheme was to rely on Ministerial Determinations under the provisions of section 58B of the Act. Subject to policy approval from the Prime Minister, it is proposed to introduce the necessary legislative amendments in the Autumn 2007 sitting of Parliament.

Defence cannot provide a copy of the review report for the reasons previously provided in response to Question W53 q).

b)
Yes.

c)
The review was motivated by the impending finishing date of 31 December 2006 for home ownership assistance provided under the Defence Force (Home Loans Assistance) Act 1990 and the concurrent expiry of the agreement with the National Australia Bank to be the sole loan provider.
d)
The review was conducted by Defence and informed by expert advice provided by Stamfords, Advisors Consultants.

e)
A copy of the report has not been provided to the Minister.

f)
The report of the review has not been released the reasons previously provided in response to Question W53 q)

g)
No, for the reasons previously provided in response to Question W53 q)

h)
The National Australia Bank, Defence Housing Australia, Defence Families of Australia and the former Armed Forces Federation Australia made submissions to the review.

i)
Take up rates under the Defence Homeowner Scheme for the past five financial years were as follows:

	
	2002–03
	2003–04
	2004–05
	2005–06
	2006–07

	Take Up
	1,520
	1,398
	1,286
	1,170
	1,001



Source: Defence Annual Report 2005–06

j)
Based on Defence Census 2003 data:

65% of the permanent ADF have provided service of 5years, or more; and

49% of the Reserve Force has provided service of 8 years, or more.

It is estimated that 33,248 Permanent Force and 9,540 Reserve Force members were eligible for assistance under the old scheme.

k)
Please refer to the response provided at (a).

l)
Please refer also to the response provided at (a).

m)
Please refer to the response provided at Question W53 (m)

n)
Members of current home ownership schemes may be eligible for the assistance available under the new scheme provided they are serving members on or after 1 July 2008.  Members will be required to re-finance their existing mortgage with a member of the home loan provider panel to be established under the scheme and will be responsible for the costs of re-financing their mortgage.  Members or their families must also occupy the house at the time of re-financing the mortgage.

o)
Based on Defence Census 2003 data, 70% of the permanent ADF have provided service of 4years, or more. Defence estimates that 35,800 permanent ADF members will be eligible for assistance under the new scheme.

p)
Based on Defence Census 2003 data, 49% of the Reserve Force has provided service of 8 years, or more. Defence estimates and 9,540 Reserve Force members will be eligible for assistance under the new scheme.

q)
Please refer to the response provided at Question W53 (t).

r)
Eligible members separating from the ADF will be entitled to subsidy assistance based on their length of service and the period of subsidy assistance accrued. A member separating after 20 years service will be entitled to subsidy assistance at the 12 year retention point, i.e. $470 per month, for the accrued subsidy period. A member separating after less than 20 years service will be entitled to subsidy assistance at the 4 year retention point, i.e. $241 per month, for the accrued subsidy period. A member not accessing the scheme at the time of their separation from the ADF will have two years from that date to apply for the subsidy or lose their accrued subsidy period.

s)
No.  The application of the lower subsidy is described in the response provided at (r).

t)
Please refer to the response provided to Question W53 (d). The longer period of qualifying service applied to Reservists recognises the shorter amount of time they are required on duty each year in comparison to permanent force members.

u)
Recruitment was considered, but it was not the primary focus in the development of a new home ownership assistance scheme.

v)
Not withstanding the retention focus of the review, it is considered that the opportunity to access the home ownership assistance available under the new scheme will be attractive to potential recruits.

w)
No.

x)
The subsidy assistance thresholds are based on the National Weighted Average House Price as advised by the Australian Bureau of Statistics. The thresholds will change in response to annual movements in this index.

The graduated thresholds were developed to:

-
encourage members to remain with the ADF beyond the critical retention points;

-
provide reward and recognition for the skills and experience attained and their contribution to Defence capability; and 

-
acknowledge the changing personal and financial circumstances of ADF members, particularly as they relate to housing needs, throughout their military career.

y)
Yes.

z)
Please refer to the response provided at x).

aa)
Yes. Defence modeling, based on a targeted survey of 1,700 members, indicates a retention figure of up to 500 personnel in the first three years of the scheme’s operation. This represents approximately 10% of those who would have otherwise separated from the ADF.

ab)
The estimated reduction in the scheme’s outlay after 2014–15 is attributable the rate growth in franchise revenue and a reduction in subsidy assistance payable to members on separation from the ADF exceeding the rate of growth in other scheme costs.

ac)
Defence will pay the Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) on the amount of the subsidy paid during the FBT year. The estimated FBT liability is included in the estimated overall scheme costs of $863.8m.

ad)
Yes. While the grossed up value of the subsidy assistance will be reported on ADF members’ statements of earnings, only the actual value of the subsidy paid in the FBT year will be used to calculate the Family Adjusted Taxable Income for Family Tax Benefit purposes.

ae)
Yes.
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